## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

# **RECEIVED**

11-02-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2015AP001788 Outagamie County Circuit Court Case Nos. 2013CV001063

#### TOWN OF GRAND CHUTE,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

#### SHELLEY L. KOWALEWSKI,

Defendant-Appellant.

\_\_\_\_\_

AN **APPEAL FROM** THE **JUDGEMENT OF** CONVICTION AND OF THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING **DENYING** THE **DEFENDANTS MOTION** SUPPRESSION OF EVIDENCE IN THE CIRCUIT **FOR OUTAGAMIE** COUNTY, **COURT** THE HONORABLE GREGORY B. GILL, JR., PRESIDING

## THE BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT SHELLEY L. KOWALEWSKI

\_\_\_\_\_

By: Walter A. Piel, Jr.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did Town of Grand Chute Police Officer, Shawn Enneper have the requisite level of suspicion to stop Ms. Kowalewski's vehicle?

The trial court answered: Yes.

# STATEMENT AS TO ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Because this is an appeal within Wis. Stats. Sec. 752.31(2), the resulting decision is not eligible for publication. Because the issues in this appeal may be resolved through the application of established law, the briefs in this matter should adequately address the arguments; oral argument will not be necessary.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE/FACTS

The defendant-appellant, Shelley L. Kowalewski, (Ms. Kowalewski) was charged in the Town of Grand Chute Municipal Court, Outagamie County with having operated a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant and operated a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration contrary to Wis. Stat. §346.63(1)(a) and (b) on January 23, 2013. On April 8, 2013, in writing, Ms. Kowlewski entered a not guilty plea to both charges. On the same date, Ms. Kowalewski filed a motion for suppression of evidence challenging the stop of her vehicle. On August 21, 2013, a hearing on the defendant's motion and a trial to the court was held before the Town of Grand Chute Municipal Court, the Honorable Charles W. Klausen, Judge, presiding. The Court orally denied the defendant's motion and found Ms. Kowalewski guilty of both charges.

On September 5, 2013, Ms. Kowalewski, by counsel, timely filed a written Notice of Appeal of the municipal court judgment. The matter was transferred to the Outagamie County Circuit Court. The defendant refiled the motion for suppression of evidence on December 5, 2013. (R.2:1/ A.App.1). The

Plaintiff-Respondent filed an objection to Ms. Kowalewski's motion on December 12, 2013.

A hearing on Ms. Kowalewski's motion was held on May 5, 2014. The court denied said motion, and a written Order denying the motion was filed on August 18, 2015. (R.15:1). A trial to the court was held on June 9, 2015. The court found Ms. Kowalewski guilty of both charges, a final written order of guilt being filed on July 13, 2015. Ms. Kowalewski timely filed a Notice of Appeal on August 26, 2015. The appeal stems from the judgment of conviction, and the court denying Ms. Kowalewski's motion for suppression of evidence.

The pertinent facts to this appeal were adduced at the motion hearing held on May 15, 2014 through the testimony of Town of Grand Chute Police Officer Shawn Enneper. Officer Enneper testified that he had worked for the Town of Grand Chute Police Department for five years. He testified that his duties included traffic stops and OWI investigations among other things. (R.21:5/ A.App. 2). Officer Enneper testified that on January 23, 2013, he was working patrol duties in the Town of Grand Chute. As he was traveling westbound on West College Avenue, he observed Ms. Kowalewski's vehicle ahead of him. (R.21:6/ A.App. 3). Enneper testified that the time was

approximately 2:30 a.m., and that there was normally bar traffic proceeding through the town at that time. *Id.* 

While he could not remember the distance he was behind Ms. Kowalewski's vehicle, he testified that he observed her vehicle drift in its lane. Because of it drifting in its lane, Enneper activated his mobile camera. (R.21:7/ A.App. 4). Enneper testified that the vehicle appeared to touch the white line that separated lane one and lane two on College Avenue. *Id.* He testified that "he believed that he observed that another time as well." *Id.* 

Additionally, as the vehicle approached highway 41, the vehicle maneuvered into the left lane to turn southbound without using its directional signal. *Id.* At that point, Officer Enneper activated his emergency lights and stopped Ms. Kowalewski's vehicle. Enneper testified it is his belief that people should use their direction signals all the time. (R.21:9/ A.App. 5).

On cross-examination, defense counsel played the officer's squad video. Enneper acknowledged that there were no other vehicles on the road when Ms. Kowalewski turned onto Highway 41. He further acknowledged that the video accurately represented what he saw that night. (R.21:14/ A.App. 7).

The Plaintiff argued that the evidence presented was sufficient to establish reasonable suspicion to stop Ms. Kowalewski's vehicle even if a traffic law violation was not observed. (R.21:19/ A.App. 8). The defense argued that Ms. Kowalewski did not commit a traffic violation and that Officer Enneper did not have the requisite level of suspicion to stop Ms. Kowalewski. (R.21:21/ A.App. 9). The court found that Officer Enneper had a reasonable basis to believe that Ms. Kowalewski committed a traffic law violation. *Id.* However, the court additionally found that the officer articulated sufficient facts to support the stop. (R.21:23/ A.App. 10). The court proceeded to deny the defendant's motion.

The defendant timely appealed after a court trial finding Ms. Kowalewski guilty of both offenses. The appeal herein stems from the court Order denying Ms. Kowalewski's motion for suppression of evidence. Ms. Kowalewski timely filed a Notice of Appeal on August 26, 2015.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether reasonable suspicion exists is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Powers*, 2004 WI App 143, ¶6, 275 Wis.2d 456, 685 N.W.2d 869. The court applies a two-step

standard of review when reviewing questions of constitutional fact. A trial court's finding of historical fact will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. However, determining whether a reasonable suspicion justified the stop is reviewed de novo. *Id.* Furthermore, "when evidence in the record consists of disputed testimony and a video recording" the court applies "the clearly erroneous standard of review when ...reviewing the trial court's finding of fact based on that recording." *State v. Walli*, 2011 WI App 86, ¶18, 334 Wis.2d 402, 799 N.W.2d 898.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# A. OFFICER ENNEPER DID NOT HAVE THE REQUISITE LEVEL OF SUSPICION TO STOP MS. KOWALEWSKI'S VEHICLE

It is well settled that the "temporary detention of individuals during the stop of an automobile by the police, even if only for a brief period and for a limited purpose, constitutes a 'seizure' of 'persons' within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment." *State v. Gaulrapp*, 207 Wis.2d 600, 605, 558 N.W.2d 696 (Ct.App. 1996). To satisfy the constitutional standard of the 4<sup>th</sup> Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution, an investigative traffic stop must be supported by either "probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, or an

officer must have grounds to reasonably suspect that a violation has been or will be committed. *State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶12, 317 Wis.2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569.

"Probable cause refers to the 'quantum of evidence which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe' that a violation has occurred." *Popke* at ¶14 citing to *Johnson v. State*, 75 Wis.2d 344, 348, 249 N.W.2d 593(1977). The evidence must be sufficient to "lead a reasonable officer to believe that guilt is more than a possibility." *Id*.

However, even if probable does not exist, an officer can conduct a traffic stop where "under the totality of the circumstances, he has grounds to reasonably suspect that a crime or traffic violation has been or will be committed." *State v. Gaulrapp*, 207 Wis.2d 600, at 605, 558 N.W.2d 696. In this situation, an officer "must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant' the intrusion of the stop." *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶10, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W. 634. "The crucial question is whether the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing or is about to commit a crime." *Id.* at ¶13.

This standard requires that the stop be based on something more than an "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or `hunch." *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968). "The determination of reasonableness is a common sense test." *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 *citing State v. Anderson*, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 83-84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990).

The facts here would not have led a reasonable officer in Officer Enneper's position to believe that Ms. Kowalewski had committed a traffic law violation. Officer Enneper did not have probable cause to believe that a traffic law violation had occurred. Wis. Stat. §346.13(3) requires that vehicles drive within their designated lanes:

Notwithstanding sub. (2), when lanes have been marked or posted for traffic moving in a particular direction or at designated speeds, the operator of a vehicle shall drive in the lane designated.

The statute is violated when one deviates from the designated lane of travel. Here, neither Officer Enneper's testimony nor the video support a violation of Wis. Stat. §346.13(3). While Ms. Kowalewski's vehicle might have briefly touched the white dividing line, she never deviated from the designated lane until she turned into the left turn lane to head

southbound on Highway 41. Thus, Ms. Kowalewski did not violate Wis. Stat. §346.13(3).

Additionally, Officer Enneper did not have probable cause to believe that Ms. Kowalewki violated Wis. Stat. §346.34(1)(a)(3) or (b). Wis. Stat. §346.34(1)(a)(3) requires no turn to be made "from a direct course or move right or left upon a roadway unless and until such movement can be made with reasonable safety." Additionally, Wis. Stat. 346.34(1)(b) states that "In the event any other traffic may be affected by the movement, no person may turn any vehicle without giving an appropriate signal in the manner provided in s. 346.35 ..." Contrary to Officer Enneper's an individual does not have to always use her turn signal. Only when other traffic may be affected must a signal be used.

The record does not support probable cause to stop Ms. Kowalewski for violating either statute. Officer Enneper acknowledged there was no other traffic in any lane. (R.21:11/A.App. 6). Thus, there was no other traffic that would have been affected by Ms. Kowalewski's movement. Moreover, there is nothing in the record that suggested the movements toward the white line were not made with reasonable safety. Both the

adduced testimony and video fail to support Officer Enneper stopping Ms. Kowalewski for an alleged traffic law violation.

However, conduct does not need to be unlawful to support an investigative detention. Even lawful conduct under appropriate circumstances might support an investigative detention. State v. Waldner, 206 Wis.2d 51 at 60, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). The issue is did Ms. Kowalweski's driving behavior, albeit lawful, coupled with the time of night provide Officer Enneper with a reasonable inference that unlawful conduct was afoot. "When a police officer observes lawful but suspicious conduct, if a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct can be objectively discerned, notwithstanding the existence of other innocent inferences that could be drawn, police officers have the right to temporarily detain the individual for the purpose of inquiry." State v. Waldner, 206 Wis.2d 51 at 60, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

The observations of Officer Enneper and the video show minor deviations with a single lane of travel. But for briefly touching the white dividing line, the video showed Ms. Kowalewski stayed in her lane until she moved into the left hand turn lane and turned southbound on Highway 41. There were no erratic or jerky movements. Furthermore, repeated movement in

a single lane alone does not provide an officer with reasonable suspicion to stop a vehicle. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. In *Post*, the court recognized, "indeed, if failure to follow a perfect vector down the highway or keeping one's eyes on the road were sufficient reasons to suspect a person of driving while impaired, a substantial portion of the public would be subject each day to an invasion of their privacy." *Id.* at ¶20, citing to *United States v. Colin*, 314 F.3d 439, 446 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir.2002).

Thus, while in some situations, lawful conduct can form the basis for an investigatory stop, here, using the totality of the circumstances analysis, the information available to Officer Enneper would not have led him to suspect that Ms. Kowalewski was committing a violation. At best, the evidence revealed that Officer Enneper may have had an inchoate hunch that Ms. Kowalewski operating while impaired, but clearly more than an inchoate hunch is needed for the Plaintiff to prevail.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Because the information available to Officer Enneper did not show that Ms. Kowalewski committed a traffic law violation, and because minor deviations did not support reasonable suspicion that Ms. Kowalewski was operating while impaired, Officer Enneper did not have the requisite level of suspicion to stop Ms. Kowalewski's vehicle. Thus, the trial court erred in denying the defendant's suppression motion. The Court should vacate the judgment of conviction and reverse the trial court's order.