RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 12-02-2015 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

TOWN OF GRAND CHUTE,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 2015AP1788 Circuit Court Case No. 13CV1063

SHELLEY L. KOWALEWSKI,

V.

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT, TOWN OF GRAND CHUTE

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Outagamie County, The Honorable Gregory B. Gill, Jr., Presiding

HERRLING CLARK LAW FIRM, LTD. Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent, Town of Grand Chute
By: Attorney Kristen S. Knutson
State Bar No. 1070405
800 N. Lynndale Drive
Appleton, Wisconsin 54914
(920) 739-7366
kknutson@herrlingclark.com

STATEMENT OF ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Petitioner-Respondent, Town of Grand Chute ("the Town") does not request oral argument or publication.

Oral argument in this matter would be of no benefit to the Court as the briefs submitted by the parties fully develop the theories and legal authorities necessary to decide this matter. Further, the issues in this appeal involve no more than the application of well-settled rules of law to the facts in this case. Thus, the criteria for publication pursuant to section 809.23 are not satisfied in this appeal and publication is therefore unnecessary.

Finally, as this is an appeal pursuant to section 752.31(2), publication seems frustrated by section 809.23(4)(b) of the Wisconsin Statutes.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Although not required, the Town is including a brief "Statement of the Case" to supplement the Statement of the Case provided in Appellant Shelley Kowalewski's ("Shelley") Brief.

To be clear, Officer Enneper saw both Shelley's front and rear passenger tires touch the solid white lane line (R. 21-13:4, 21-15:12-15; R-App. 10-11), and he made this observation on more than one occasion. (R. 21-7:3-7.)

In addition to Officer Enneper's observations recited by Shelley in her Brief, Officer Enneper explained to Shelley the reason for his stop as follows: "I had observed that she appeared to be drifting in her lane of travel. I also advised her that it appeared she failed to use her turn signal or directional signal when she changed lanes from lane number one into the turn lane." (R. 21-8:7-12; R-App. 6.)

Officer Enneper testified that Shelley's driving behavior initially drew his attention- she was weaving in her lane of traffic, and ultimately failed to use her turn signal while changing lanes. (R. 21-16:12-20.) As to Shelley's failure to use her turn signal while changing lanes, Officer Enneper was traveling to the rear of Shelley's vehicle and testified that

Shelley should have recognized his vehicle behind her in traffic. (R. 21-8:13-16.)

Officer Enneper's testimony was that there were several reasons he made the traffic stop. (R. 21-15:23-25; R-App. 11.) He took in to account that it was 2:30 in the morning on a weekend night. (R. 21-16:1-5; R-App. 12.) In the Officer's words, he considered "the totality of the circumstances." (R. 21-16:6; R-App. 12.) "Being a Saturday evening, Sunday morning, Saturdays in downtown Appleton are typically a heavy restaurant or bar crowd, and the fact it was near that closing time of those businesses, 2:30 in the morning." (R. 21-16:6-10; R-App. 12.)

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Town does not disagree that "[t]he temporary detention of individuals during the stop of an automobile by the police, even if only for a brief period and for a limited purpose, constitutes a 'seizure' of 'persons' within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment." *State v. Gaulrapp*, 207 Wis. 2d 600, 605, 558 N.W.2d 696 (Ct. App. 1996) (*citing Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806 (1996)).

Because the Fourth Amendment is not restricted to criminal cases, a civil OWI defendant is entitled to suppression only if the Defendant is stopped on *less than a reasonable, articulable suspicion* of committing an offense. *State v. Wilks,* 121 Wis. 2d 93, 358 N.W.2d 273 (1984); *Cty of Milwaukee v. Cohen,* 57 Wis.2d 38, 203 N.W.2d 633 (1973); *Village of Menomonee Falls v. Kunz,* 126 Wis. 2d 143, 376 N.W.2d 359 (Ct. App. 1985).

Whether a traffic stop is reasonable is a question of constitutional fact involving a two-step standard of review. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, \P 8, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. First, the court of appeals reviews the trial court's findings of fact under the clearly erroneous standard. *Id.* Next, the court reviews the application of those facts to constitutional principles de novo. *Id.*

The test for determining whether reasonable suspicion exists is based on an objective standard and takes into account the totality of the circumstances. *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, ¶ 22, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. Reasonable suspicion must be based on "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those

facts, reasonably warrant" the intrusion of the stop. *Post*, 2007 WI 60 at ¶ 10 (*quoting Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21, (1968)).

"The crucial question is whether the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing, or is about to commit a crime." *Post*, 2007 WI 60 at ¶ 13.

II. RESPONDENT MAY ADVANCE ANY ARGUMENT THAT WILL SUSTAIN A CIRCUIT COURT'S RULING

As the Respondent to this appeal, the Town may advance any argument that will sustain the circuit court's ruling. *State v. Darcy N.K.*, 218 Wis. 2d 640, 651, 581 N.W.2d 567, 572 (Ct. App. 1998). Although an appellant is limited before the court of appeals to the arguments it made before the circuit court, *State v. Bustamante*, 201 Wis.2 d 562, 571, 549 N.W.2d 746 (Ct. App. 1996), respondents are not similarly limited. *State v. Lock*, 2013 WI App 80, ¶ 40, 348 Wis. 2d 334, 833 N.W.2d 189 (*citing State v. Ortiz*, 2001 WI App 215, ¶ 25, 247 Wis. 2d 836, 634 N.W.2d 860).

III. THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY DETERMINED THAT OFFICER ENNEPER HAD THE REQUISITE LEVEL OF SUSPICION TO MAKE A TRAFFIC STOP

Shelley states without any legal citation or authority that "[t]he facts here would not have led a reasonable officer in Officer Enneper's position

to believe that she had committed a traffic violation. (App. Br. at 7.) Conversely, Officer's Enneper's testimony during the Suppression Hearing was that he believed he had reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop. (R. 21-17:2-8; R-App. 13.)

Shelley argues that she did not violate section 346.13 of the Wisconsin Statutes (requiring drivers to drive in the lane designated). (App. Br. at 8.) She cites no legal authority, however, to support her conclusory statement that she did not violate this law.

Whether the court interprets "driving in the lane designated" to mean that a driver must not drive on the lane lines or conversely that driving on the lane lines does constitute driving within the designated lane, the standard is not whether the offense was committed but rather whether an office had a reasonable, articulable suspicion of an individual committing an offense. State v. Wilks, 121 Wis. 2d 93, 358 N.W.2d 273 (1984); Cty of Milwaukee v. Cohen, 57 Wis.2d 38, 203 N.W.2d 633 (1973); Village of Menomonee Falls v. Kunz, 126 Wis. 2d 143, 376 N.W.2d 359 (Ct. App. 1985). As the circuit court held,

In addition . . . the officer was able to identify certain articulable facts which supported his belief that there may have been additional issues related to [Shelley's] driving abilities, in particular, and as was noted on the video, there was at least one instance where the vehicle touched a white center line. It did appear in the court's view that perhaps there was

actually two times the vehicle came in and out . . . [t]here was, second, a line where the vehicle drifted outwards and towards the right immediately prior to making the turn. In addition, the officer testified that there may have been a lane deviation . . . not a complete lane deviation, but enough to warrant a concern of the officer . . . so that constitutes somewhere between two and three lane deviations.

(R-21-22:9-25, 21-23:1-3; R-App. 15-16.)

This case can thus be distinguished from Post in that here, Shelley actually made contact, on numerous occasions, with a marked lane line. (See R. 21-23:1-3; R-App. 16). In Post, the driver was in a traffic lane next to a parking lane, which was not marked or delineated in any way. Post, 2007 WI 60 at ¶ 3. The officer in Post saw the driver drive partially in the unmarked parking lane. Id. at ¶ 4. The issue in Post dealt with weaving only, and did not address facts in which a vehicle made actual contact, on numerous occasions, with a designated lane line, thus arguably violating section 346.34(1)(a)(3).

The *Post* court actually refused to delineate a bright-line rule that weaving within a single lane does or does not provide an officer with reasonable suspicion to make a traffic stop. *Id.* at ¶ 18. "[T]his court has consistently maintained that the determination of reasonable suspicion is based upon the totality of the circumstances." *Id.* (citations omitted).

Shelley also argues she did not violate section 346.34. In making her argument, Shelley states "there was no other traffic in any lane." (App. Br. at 8.). However, Shelley completely ignores that Officer Enneper's vehicle was on the road behind her. Section 346.34(1)(b) states that "[i]n the event any other traffic may be affected by the movement, no person may turn without giving an appropriate signal." Certainly, Officer Enneper's vehicle constitutes "any other traffic," and his placement on the roadway could have been affected by Shelley's movement.

CONCLUSION

For all of the aforementioned reasons, Town of Grand Chute respectfully requests that the Wisconsin Court of Appels affirm the decision of the Honorable Gregory B. Gill, Jr., as the trial court's decision was sound, proper, reasonable and within the discretion of the court.